

**CONSTITUTION**  
**OF**  
**MAI HEE BHARAT**

**Article I. Name**

The name of the Party shall be "MAI HEE BHARAT," and this Constitution may be called the "Constitution of MAI HEE BHARAT."

The Party shall have its flag, logo and symbol, with its National office at "Royal", 2A, Hastings Park Road, Alipore, Calcutta-700027.

**Article II. Aims and Objectives**

The central aim and objective of the Party shall be to integrate the entire population of Bharat into a single large family. All the members of the said family shall be recognised only as individual natural human beings equal in all respect, disregarding any external and artificial marks of distinction imposed upon them relating to religion, race, caste, sex, social status, etc. that keep them perpetually divided amongst themselves.

The Party firmly believes that the root cause of sufferings of human beings inhabiting Bharat lies in the fact that the immense majority of them are always kept away from the mainstream process of decision making, while only a handful few manipulate the affairs of the country as per their own choice ignoring the rest of the population as mere numbers rather than intelligent human beings. As decades have gone by without producing any material change, it is, therefore, high time that people themselves directly take command of the situation so that Bharat can excel in every sphere.

As only by the presence of human inhabitants a territory is transformed into a country, thus every individual inhabitant of this country is, in reality, synonymous with Bharat. Such a realisation that he is Bharat himself can instil enormous confidence in every individual to gracefully come forward in the sacred task of nation-building. Hence, the name of the Party is "MAI HEE BHARAT".

Being guided by this central theme, the Party shall undertake the following course of action:

Paying highest respect to the sovereignty of a free individual human being and realising that each of them has a common heritage and is one of the masters of this land without whose express command nothing shall move in this country;

that poverty, illiteracy, social discriminations, etc., which are but ingredients of friction causing enmity between individuals, are intentionally created to keep them under perpetual subjugation for exploitation;

that an individual who is described as poor is not poor, on the contrary, he is the only source of wealth;

that the devices of enslavement of subjects made during the colonial rule under the name of so-called "laws" are still in operation in full force with all its blood-sucking tentacles, even though the people are said to be free; and

realising further that any existing system has to be subordinate to the common wishes of the people and cannot act as a means of domination,

Mai Hee Bharat shall be fervently instrumental in all respect to radically change the prevailing social, economic, political and legal systems by calling upon every inhabitant of Bharat to graciously come forward and mind the affairs of the country from a position of strength as well as confidence.

To achieve the above-noted aims and objectives, the Party through its organizational units as designated in this Constitution, shall:

accept donations, raise money with or without security for carrying out any of the aims and objectives of the Party;

purchase, take on lease or otherwise acquire, and maintain, movable or immovable property for the Party and invest and deal with monies of the Party in such a manner as may be determined from time to time;

take part in elections conducted by the Election Commission within five years of its registration; and

to do all other necessary lawful things and acts, without promoting, instigating or participating in violence in any manner, as are incidental or conducive to the attainment of any of the aforesaid aims and objectives:

Provided that none of these activities shall be undertaken without the express approval of the National President of the Party.

### **Article III. Membership**

Any person who has attained the age of 18 years and is eligible to cast vote in any election in Bharat conducted by the Election Commission, and who sincerely feels that he is Bharat himself and accepts the Constitution as well as the aims and objectives of the Party, shall be eligible to become a member of MAI HEE BHARAT by making a written application in the prescribed membership form and on payment of a triennial subscription of Rs. 10.00 only, provided that he is not a member of any other political party, which has a separate membership, constitution and programme.

No person shall be eligible to become a member except at his permanent place of residence or at a place where he carries on his business or work.

The term of membership shall be from the 1st day of January of the year or the date of enrolment as a member up to the 31st day of December of the following third year.

The Permanent Register of members within their jurisdiction shall be maintained by the respective Committee, as per the prescribed rules made by the Party.

Renewal of membership shall be deemed to have been completed by depositing the requisite membership fee.

The National Executive Council of the Party shall have the power to review the subscription amount at any time.

Every member shall have the right to elect and be elected in the election to any of the constituent units of the Party unless disqualified by any rule made under this Constitution.

The subscription received from the members shall be distributed in the following proportion among the units:

National 10%

State 15%

District 25%

Subordinate to District 50%

#### **Article IV. Constituents**

MAI HEE BHARAT shall include the Plenary and Special Sessions of the Party, and

The National Representative Body;

The National Executive Council;

The State/Union Territory Representative Body for each State/Union Territory;

The State/Union Territory Executive Committee;

The District Representative Body for each District;

The District Executive Committee for each District; and

The Committees subordinate to the District Committee is to be determined by the concerned State/Union Territory Executive Committee.

#### **Article V. Central Organisation**

The central organisation of MAI HEE BHARAT shall consist of: The National President of the Party

The National Vice-President of the Party General Secretaries of the Party Secretaries of the Party

Treasurer of the Party

The National Representative Body, and The National Executive Council.

#### **Article VI. Organisational Structure**

The primary unit of the Party shall be the District Executive Committee.

The District Representative Body shall consist of the representatives each, mandatorily belonging to and, representing 1000 members of the Party registered in that District.

The District Executive Committee shall consist of a President (who shall also be the President of the District Representative Body), a Vice-President, such number of General Secretaries and Secretaries as may be decided according to the rules framed by the National Executive Council under this Constitution, and a Treasurer. The President of the District Executive Committee shall be elected, either by vote or by consensus, by representatives comprising the District Representative Body. The District President shall nominate other office bearers of the Executive Committee.

The State/Union Territory Representative Body shall consist of the Presidents of the District Executive Committees of the Districts contained in the State/Union Territory concerned.

The State/Union Territory Executive Committee shall consist of a President (who shall also be the President of the State/Union Territory Representative Body), a Vice-President, such number of General Secretaries and Secretaries as may be decided according to the rules framed by the National Executive Council under this Constitution, and a Treasurer. The President shall be elected, either by vote or by consensus, by representatives each, mandatorily belonging to and, representing 5000 members of the Party registered in the State/Union Territory. The President shall nominate other office bearers of the Committee.

The National Representative Body of the Party shall consist of the Presidents and other office-bearers of all State/Union Territory Executive Committees.

The National Executive Council shall consist of the National President, the National Vice- President, such number of General Secretaries and Secretaries as may be decided according to the rules framed by the Executive Council under this Constitution, and a Treasurer.

The National President shall be elected by vote or by consensus by the representatives each, mandatorily belonging to and, representing 10000 members of the Party. The President shall then nominate other office bearers of the National Executive Council.

The office-bearers of the District Executive Committee shall be removable by the President of the Committee after obtaining the approval of the President of the State Executive Committee of the State concerned.

The office-bearers of the State/Union Territory Executive Committee shall be removable by the President of the Committee after obtaining the approval of the National President of the Party.

The National President shall have the prerogative to intervene at any time and to remove any office-bearer of a State/Union Territory or District Executive Committee and direct re-election, or nomination (as the case may be) to the office thus vacated.

The number of office bearers of State/Union Territory and District Executive Committees shall be decided according to the rules framed by the National Executive Council under this Constitution. The term of all the Representative Bodies and Executive Committees of the Party and their office bearers shall be three years.

The National President shall preside over the general meetings of the Party and the meetings of the National Representative Body and the National Executive Council. Meetings of the National Representative Body and the National Executive Council shall be convened by the National President as and when required and the agenda for these meetings to be approved by him. The National President shall exercise all powers of the National Executive Council when the Council is not in session.

The quorum for meetings of the Executive Committees, Representative Bodies and the National Executive Council of the Party shall be 1/3rd of the members of the respective Committee, Body or Council.

The decision for a merger of MAI HEE BHARAT with any other political entity or its dissolution shall not be taken without consultation at District, State and National levels of the Party.

In the absence of the National President, all of his official functions may be performed by the National Vice-President, provided that all decisions taken by the National Vice-President in such a situation shall be put up before the National President for approval.

In the event of the sad demise of the National President, the National Vice-President shall immediately and automatically assume charge as the National President and shall continue to function as such until the end of the current term of the National President.

### **Article VII. Central Secretariat**

To carry out the policies and programmes laid down by the Party and the National Representative Body, the National President shall be assisted by a Central Secretariat, which shall consist of the number of General Secretaries, Secretaries and such other officials as may be appointed by him. The National President shall be in charge of the funds and shall keep proper accounts of all investments, incomes and expenditures with the assistance of the Secretariat.

All monies received for the Party and the central organisation of the Party shall be deposited in an account in a nationalised bank in the name of the Party and such account shall be operated by either the National President, the National Vice-President or by an office-bearer of the National Executive Council duly authorised by the National President in this behalf:

Provided that a sum of money required for day to day and emergent expenditures shall be kept at the disposal of the National President and the National Vice-President or in the Office of the Party.

## **Article VIII. National Executive Council**

The National Executive Council shall be the highest executive authority of the Party. It shall be the final authority in all matters relating to the interpretation and application of the provisions of this Constitution. The National Executive Council shall also have the powers, in special cases and to remove difficulties, to relax the application of provisions of the Constitution provided the same is not inconsistent with it.

The National Executive Council shall frame rules for administration and execution of any provisions of this Constitution and any other administrative matter not specifically provided in the Constitution, but not inconsistent with it.

The National Executive Council shall frame rules for maintaining discipline in the Party. The Council shall superintend, direct and control the functioning of all the State /Union Territory and District Executive Committees and Representative Bodies.

The National Executive Council may take such disciplinary measure provided herein against any Committee or office-bearer of any Committee other than the National President, or the National Vice-President, as it may deem appropriate.

To meet any special situation, the National Executive Council shall have the powers to take such measure in the interest of the Party as it may deem appropriate, provided that if any measure is taken which is beyond the powers of the Council defined in the Constitution, it shall cause the same to be laid before the National Representative Body for ratification as early as possible.

The National Executive Council shall prepare accounts of the Party and the National Representative Body every year. The National Executive Council, with the approval of the National President, may appoint one or more auditors or inspectors or other officers to examine the record, papers and account books of all or any constituent bodies of the Party, and it shall be incumbent on the office bearers of all constituent bodies to furnish all required information to the auditors, inspectors or other officers and to allow them access to all offices, accounts and records. The audited annual financial statement is to be submitted to the Election Commission within 60 days after the end of each financial year.

The State/Union Territory Executive Committees shall frame rules which shall not be inconsistent with the provisions of this Constitution and the rules framed by the National Executive Council for the proper functioning of the State/Union Territory and District units of the Party. No such rule shall be valid unless approved by the National Executive Council and the National President.

## **Article IX. State/Union Territory and District Executive Committees**

Each State/Union Territory Executive Committee and each District Executive Committee shall be responsible for the affairs of the Party within its respective jurisdiction.

Each District Executive Committee shall prepare an annual report on the activities of the Party in the district and work of the District Representative Body, including an annual statement of accounts, and submit it to the State President to be laid before the State/Union Territory Executive Committee.

Similarly each State/Union Territory Executive Committee shall prepare an annual report on the activities of the Party and of the State/Union Territory Representative Body, including an annual statement of accounts, and submit it to the National President to be laid before the National Executive Council.

On the failure of any State/Union Territory or District Executive Committee to function under this Constitution or any rules framed or directions issued by the National Executive Council, the latter, with the approval of the National President, or the National Vice-President, may suspend the said Committee and form an ad hoc committee to carry on the work of the Party in the respective jurisdiction.

All such vacancies in the State/Union Territory and District Executive Committees as occur due to resignation, death or removal, shall, unless otherwise directed by the National Executive Council or the National President, be filled in the same manner in which the vacating incumbent was elected/nominated, and the new incumbent thus elected/nominated shall hold office for the residual term of the said office.

No measure of any Committee once properly constituted, shall be invalid merely because of any vacancy.

## **Article X. Rules of Discipline**

It shall be the solemn duty of every member of the Party not to act in any manner that undermines or tarnishes the image of the Party, which shall be construed as acts of indiscipline. In such event the member concerned may face disciplinary measures that may lead to any of the following:

Imposition of disability to hold any office of the Party, which may be for a specified period or permanent; Removal from the office;

Suspension from the membership of the Party for a specified period; or Expulsion from the Party.



The State/Union Territory Executive Committee or the National Executive Council shall have authority to impose the appropriate disciplinary measure against such an erring member, although the National President may directly take notice of any case of indiscipline. A member dissatisfied with such disciplinary measure against him shall be free to refer it to the National President for reconsideration.

If the National President considers it appropriate, he may refer it to the National Executive Council for redressal or redress it himself and the decision of the National President shall be final.

**Article XI. Amendment of the Constitution**

An amendment of this Constitution can be made by two-thirds of the members present and voting at a meeting of the National Representative Body held especially for this purpose:

Provided that an amendment of this Constitution may also be carried out by a resolution of the National Executive Council, being the highest executive authority of the Party provided the amended provisions conform with the aims, objectives and basic structure of the Party, and are aimed at more effective functioning in a given situation.

**Article XII. Mandatory Provision**

MAI HEE BHARAT shall bear true faith and allegiance to the Constitution of India as by law established and to the principles of socialism, secularism, and democracy and would uphold the sovereignty, unity and integrity of India.

.....